
        Licensing Committee - 
Premises and Gambling 
 
 
Please contact: Democratic Services 
Please email: democraticservices@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
Please direct dial on: 01263 516108  
 
30 June 2025 
 
A meeting of the Licensing Committee - Premises and Gambling of North Norfolk District Council will 
be held in the Council Chamber - Council Offices on Wednesday, 9 July 2025 at 10.00 am. 
 
 
At the discretion of the Chairman, a short break will be taken after the meeting has been running for 
approximately one and a half hours 
 

Members of the public who wish to ask a question or speak on an agenda item are requested to notify 
the committee clerk 24 hours in advance of the meeting and arrive at least 15 minutes before the start of 
the meeting. This is to allow time for the Committee Chair to rearrange the order of items on the agenda 
for the convenience of members of the public. Further information on the procedure for public speaking 
can be obtained from Democratic Services, Tel: 01263 516108, Email: democraticservices@north-
norfolk.gov.uk. 
 
Anyone attending this meeting may take photographs, film or audio-record the proceedings and report 
on the meeting.  Anyone wishing to do so must inform the Chairman.  If you are a member of the public 
and you wish to speak on an item on the agenda, please be aware that you may be filmed or 
photographed. 
 
Please note this meeting is livestreamed: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsShJeAVZMS0kSWcz-WyEzg 

 
 
 
Emma Denny 
Democratic Services Manager 
 
To: Cllr P Fisher, Cllr D Birch, Cllr M Batey, Cllr K Bayes, Cllr J Boyle, Cllr A Brown, Cllr T FitzPatrick, 
Cllr N Housden, Cllr E Spagnola, Cllr P Porter, Cllr L Withington, Cllr M Taylor, Cllr K Leith and 
Cllr C Rouse 
 
Members of the Management Team, appropriate Officers, Press and Public 

 

If you have any special requirements in order 
to attend this meeting, please let us know in advance 

If you would like any document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in 
a different language please contact us 

 
Chief Executive:  Steve Blatch 

Tel 01263 513811  Fax  01263 515042  Minicom  01263 516005 
Email  districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk  Web site  www.north-norfolk.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 

1.   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 
 

2.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

 
 

3.   MINUTES 
 

(1 - 4) 
 

 To approve as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 26 
March 2025. 
 

 

4.   ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 
 

 To determine any other items of business which the Chairman decides 
should be considered as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 
100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

(5 - 10) 
 

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda.  The Code of Conduct 
for Members requires that declarations include the nature of the interest 
and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.  Members are 
requested to refer to the attached guidance and flowchart. 
 

 

6.   GAMBLING STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 2025                                            (11 – 52) 
 

 
 

 Executive Summary This report aims to present the revised Gambling Statement 
of Principles 2025 and recommend its publication. The 
updated document reflects the latest legislative requirements 
and best practices, ensuring that our policies are 
comprehensive and aligned with the objectives of the 
Gambling Act 2005 

Options considered 
 

Do nothing. The Council would be in breach of its obligations 
to publish a Gambling Statement of Principles every 3 years.  
 

Consultation(s) Full public consultation took place between 13 March to 17 
April 2025. There were no responses which suggested 
changes to the policy. A summary of the updates is 
appended. 
 

Recommendations 
 

That the Licensing Committee (Premises & Gambling): 
1. Recommends that Full Council approves the 

publication of the Gambling Statement of Principles 
2025. 

2. Implement the new statement, once approved.  

Reasons for 
recommendations 
 

To ensure that all licensed premises and activities comply 
with the updated standards and requirements. To ensure 
unlicensed gambling activity can be robustly enforced upon. 
 

Background papers 
 

Gambling Act 2005 
Gambling Commission Guidance 
HM Government Consultation Principles (2018) 
Data Protection Act 2018 

 



Social Responsibility Code (January 2018) 
Public Health England and Norfolk County Council Public 
Health Team 
Previous Gambling Policy Statements 

 
 

Wards affected All 

Cabinet 
member(s) 

Councillor Callum Ringer 

Contact Officer Elisa Pendered, Environmental and Leisure Business Support 
Manager 

 
 

7.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 
 

 To pass the following resolution, if necessary: 
 
“That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph _ of Part I of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to the Act.” 
 

 

8.   TO CONSIDER ANY EXEMPT MATTERS ARISING FROM THE 
PUBLIC BUSINESS OF THE AGENDA 
 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING COMMITTEE - PREMISES AND GAMBLING 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee - Premises and Gambling held on 
Wednesday, 26 March 2025 at the Council Chamber - Council Offices at 10.00 am 
 
Committee 
Members Present: 

 

 Cllr P Fisher (Chairman) Cllr T Adams 
 Cllr K Bayes Cllr J Boyle 
 Cllr A Brown Cllr T FitzPatrick 
 Cllr P Porter  
 
  

Officers in 
attendance:  

Democratic Services Officer 
(Regulatory) 

 

    
 
1 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies received from Cllrs Batey, Birch, Blathwayt, Housden, Mancini-Boyle, 

Spagnola and Withington 
 

2 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

 None 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 None 
 

4 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 None 
 

5 PERMANENT PAVEMENT LICENSING POLICY 
 

 The EM introduced the report as set out within the agenda and the Chair invited any 
questions from members. 
 
The Chair asked about the likely fees applications and whether the fees would be 
sufficient to cover those applications which were more complicated and took up 
Officers time.  The EM confirmed that the fees would be calculated on a full cost 
recovery basis and would, on average, cover all the costs.  She indicated that the 
likely fees would be in the region of £160 for the 2 year Licence. 

Apologies for 
Absence: 

Cllr D Birch (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr M Batey 
Cllr H Blathwayt 
Cllr N Housden 
Cllr G Mancini-Boyle 
Cllr E Spagnola 
Cllr L Withington 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
Cllr Bayes asked about the timeline for businesses to make applications and 
whether NNDC fees were comparable to other authorities.  The EM confirmed that 
businesses had always had to make applications, this change was combining the 
role of administering the applications and enforcing the policy. With regard to 
comparison of likely fees, NNDC would be very favourable compared to other local 
authorities, who in some instances, were charging £350. 
 
Cllr FitzPatrick commented that he supported the full cost recovery charging model 
and was generally in favour of licencing for this matter as it would benefit local areas 
keeping pavements clear and tidy as well as local businesses. 
 
Cllr Adams sought confirmation that this policy wouldn’t give the Council 
responsibilities in other areas where the pavement might be blocked by others and 
that utility providers would always be able to get access to pavement areas.  The EM 
confirmed that the enforcement powers only related to pavement furniture and that 
access for utilities would be unaffected.  Cllr Adams commented on the list of 
proposed consultees for applications and queried whether a smaller list or optional 
consultees would prevent delays.  The EM confirmed these consultees were not 
required by statute. 
 
Cllr Brown said it was important to ensure access to pavements for those with 
limited mobility, and asked what the criteria was in relation to applications.  He also 
asked whether local members would be notified of such applications and how would 
members of the public be notified. 
 
The EM confirmed that the Statute laid down rules regarding ensuring disability 
access which was part of the application process. An improved process for dealing 
with applications was being developed and it was envisaged that part of that process 
would be informing local members of applications.  The applications would also be 
published online, at the premises in question and at NNDC office. 
 
Cllr Bayes asked about liability insurance and who was liable for issues such as 
damage to pavements. The EM confirmed that part of the application required the 
business to provide a copy of their liability insurance. 
 
It was proposed by Cllr Boyle seconded by Cllr Porter 
 
And RESOLVED unanimously  
 
That the Permanent Pavement Licensing Policy be approved with effect from 1 April 
2025 
 

6 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 Not applicable 
 

7 ANY OTHER URGENT EXEMPT BUSINESS AT THE DISCRETION OF THE 
CHAIRMAN AND AS PREVIOUSLY DETERMINED UNDER ITEM 4 ABOVE 
 

 None 
 

  
 
 

Page 2



The meeting ended at 10.20 am. 
 
 

 
______________ 

Chairman 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



   

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out 
in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register  
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 
(Other Registerable Interests). 

 “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence

or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not

participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function,
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You

may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at

the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it

is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



   

Disclosure of  Non-Registerable Interests 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of

the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –

a. your own financial interest or well-being;

b. a financial interest or well-being of a  relative, close associate; or

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable

Interests  as set out in Table 2

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it

would affect your view of the wider public interest

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote 

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure  that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

Page 6



    

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 

Page 7

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an incorporated 
body of which such person is a director* or 
a body that such person has a beneficial 
interest in the securities of*) and the council 
— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the council; and

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a
partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of the council; and

(b) either—

(i) ) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were

Page 8



  

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and

provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building

society.

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect:  

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you
are nominated or appointed by your authority

b) any body

(i) exercising functions of a public nature

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or trade union)

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

Page 9



Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

Page 10



 

 

  

GAMBLING STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 2025 

Executive Summary This report aims to present the revised Gambling 
Statement of Principles 2025 and recommend its 
publication. The updated document reflects the latest 
legislative requirements and best practices, ensuring that 
our policies are comprehensive and aligned with the 
objectives of the Gambling Act 2005 

Options considered 
 

Do nothing. The Council would be in breach of its 
obligations to publish a Gambling Statement of 
Principles every 3 years.  
 

Consultation(s) Full public consultation took place between 13 March to 
17 April 2025. There were no responses which 
suggested changes to the policy. A summary of the 
updates is appended. 
 

Recommendations 
 

That the Licensing Committee (Premises & Gambling): 

1. Recommends that Full Council approves the 

publication of the Gambling Statement of 

Principles 2025. 

2. That the new statement is published, once 

approved.  

Reasons for 
recommendations 
 

To ensure that all licensed premises and activities 

comply with the updated standards and requirements. To 

ensure unlicensed gambling activity can be robustly 

enforced upon. 

 

Background papers 
 

Gambling Act 2005 
Gambling Commission Guidance 
HM Government Consultation Principles (2018) 
Data Protection Act 2018 
Social Responsibility Code (January 2018) 

Public Health England and Norfolk County Council 

Public Health Team 

Previous Gambling Policy Statements 

 
 

Wards affected All 

Cabinet 
member(s) 

Councillor Callum Ringer 

Contact Officer Elisa Pendered, Environmental and Leisure Business 
Support Manager 

 
  

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

Links to key documents: 
 

Corporate Plan:  
Developing our communities: engaged and supported 
individuals and communities. 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
(MTFS)  
  

 

Council Policies & 
Strategies  

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy and 
Handbook (2021) 

 

Corporate Governance: 
 

Is this a key decision
  

No 

Has the public 
interest test been 
applied 

Yes. Public consultation required. 

Details of any 
previous decision(s) 
on this matter 

 

 
1. Purpose of the report 

 
This report aims to present the revised Gambling Statement of Principles 

2025 and recommend its publication. The updated document reflects the 

latest legislative requirements and best practices, ensuring that our policies 

are comprehensive and aligned with the objectives of the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

2. Introduction & Background 
 

The Gambling Act 2005 requires licensing authorities to publish a statement 

of principles every three years, outlining how they will exercise their functions 

under the Act. The current statement has been reviewed and updated to 

incorporate changes in legislation, guidance from the Gambling Commission, 

and feedback from stakeholders.  

The changes required at this review are minor in nature. North Norfolk has no 

casinos, which would be considered high risk gambling venues, for money 

laundering. There are no licensed racetracks in North Norfolk.  

The Council’s first gambling policy was adopted on 1st November 2006 and 

subsequent reviews built on this foundation up to and including the current 

statement. 

Page 12



 

 

 

3. Proposals and Options  
Licensing Objectives: 

o Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, 

being associated with crime or disorder, or being used to 

support crime. 

o Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. 

o Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling. 

 Consultation Process: 

o Extensive consultation was conducted with stakeholders, 

including the Chief Officer of Police, representatives of gambling 

businesses, and persons affected by the authority’s functions 

under the Act. 

o Feedback from the consultation has been incorporated into the 

final document. 

 Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties: 

o The document outlines the principles for designating responsible 

authorities and determining interested parties. 

o It emphasizes the need for transparency and accountability in 

the decision-making process. 

 Exchange of Information: 

o The principles for exchanging information between the licensing 

authority, the Gambling Commission, and other relevant bodies 

are detailed. 

o Compliance with the Data Protection Act 2018 is ensured. 

 Enforcement: 

o The enforcement principles are guided by proportionality, 

accountability, consistency, transparency, and targeting. 

o The document outlines the inspection and compliance roles of 

the licensing authority. 

 Premises Licences: 

o Detailed guidelines for considering applications for premises 

licences, including the definition of premises, location 

considerations, and conditions that may be attached to licences. 

Page 13



 

 

o Specific provisions for different types of premises, such as 

casinos, adult gaming centres, betting shops, tracks, bingo 

premises, and family entertainment centres. 

 Permits and Temporary Use Notices: 

o Guidelines for issuing various permits, including unlicensed 

family entertainment centre gaming machine permits, licensed 

premises gaming machine permits, prize gaming permits, club 

gaming and club machine permits, temporary use notices, and 

occasional use notices. 

o The document outlines the application process and conditions 

for each type of permit. 

 Small Society Lotteries: 

o The principles for registering and administering small society 

lotteries are detailed. 

o The document outlines the criteria for determining whether a 

society is non-commercial and the requirements for promoters. 

 Committee and Officer Delegation: 

o The document includes the scheme of delegation for licensing 

decisions and functions. 

o It outlines the roles of the Licensing Committee, Sub-Committee, 

and licensing officers. 

 

4. Corporate Priorities 

Engaged and supported communities. Communities were consulted. 
The updated policy provides clarity on the council’s stance on gambling 
within the district and the agencies involved in gambling safety. 

5. Financial and Resource Implications 

 

Comments from the S151 Officer: 

There are no direct financial implications associated with the 
publication of the revised Gambling Statement of Principles 2025. 

 

 

 

6. Legal Implications 

Comments from the Monitoring Officer 

Page 14



 

 

The report and recommendations seek to enhance the regulation of 
gambling activities, aiming to meet legislative requirements and 
best practice in our processes. 

 

 

 

7. Risks 
The document reflects the latest guidance from the Gambling Commission 

and aligns with national standards. 

 

8. Net ZeroTarget  

 

9. Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 
The principles promote transparency and accountability in the licensing 

process, ensuring that decisions are made fairly and consistently. 

 

10. Community Safety issues  
 

Enhanced Public Safety: 

The updated principles ensure that gambling activities are conducted in a 

manner that protects the public from crime, disorder, and exploitation. 

 
The document provides a comprehensive framework for licensing, 

enforcement, and compliance, supporting the effective regulation of gambling 

activities in our district. 

 

Conclusion and Recommendations 

The adoption of the Gambling Statement of Principles 2025 represents a 

significant step forward in enhancing the regulation of gambling activities in 

our district. It is recommended that the Licensing Committee (Premises & 

Gambling) recommends that Full Council approves the publication of this 

updated document to ensure that our policies remain current, comprehensive, 

and aligned with best practices. 

 
  

Page 15



 

 

Appendix A 
 
Version and Timing 

Feature 2021 Version 2025 Draft Version 

Effective 
Date 

31 January 2022 14 January 2025 (Draft) 

Review 
Cycle 

Every 3 years Every 3 years 

Latest 
Revision 
Date 

November 2021 January 2025 

Status 
2022 Adopted by 
Council 

Draft  

 
 Structural Differences 

Section 2021 Version 2025 Draft Version 

Part 
Structure 

Parts A–D, 29 sections 
+ annexes 

Same structure, some section titles 
slightly reworded 

Wording Formal and direct 
Slightly expanded with more explanatory 
notes and examples 

 
 
 Substantive Content Differences 
 
Public Health and Gambling 

 2021: Public health is mentioned briefly (Section 15), focusing on 

collaborative approaches with Norfolk County Council. 

 2025: Expands this section with more direct emphasis on gambling-

related harm as a public health issue, reflecting a stronger alignment 

with national policy and strategy updates. 

Local Area Profiling 
 2021: States no specific risk areas identified but outlines the 

importance of local profiling. 

 2025: Adds more language around collaboration and public 

accessibility of this profiling data if/when developed. 

Language and Guidance Updates 
 The 2025 version includes updated references to: 

o New or updated Gambling Commission links/guidance. 

o Enhanced examples under conditions for Adult Gaming Centres 

and Family Entertainment Centres. 

o Greater focus on door supervisors, machine location, and risk 

mitigation strategies. 

Page 16



 

 

 
Policy Enhancements in 2025 Draft 

 New definitions and examples for what constitutes “vulnerable 

persons.” 

 Expanded explanation of risk-based inspections and enforcement 

(aligning with updated regulatory expectations). 

 More consistent integration of data protection (GDPR/Data 

Protection Act 2018) language in the sections dealing with information 

exchange. 

 
 
The 2025 version also contains administrative and formatting differences. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
Gambling Policy 
Statement of Principles

VERSION NUMBER DATE

2025 1.0 14 January 2025

Page 19



Page 2 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
Contents�

Part A				   4
1	 The Licensing Objectives									         4 
2	 Introduction	 4
3	 Declaration	 5
4	 Responsible Authorities	 5
5	 Interested Parties	 6
6	 Exchange of Information	 6
7	 Enforcement	 7
8	 Licensing Authority Functions	 8

Part B													            9
9	 Premises licences: consideration of applications	 9

Part C										         21
10	 Permits: temporary and occasional use policy	 17

Part D		  27 
11 	 Committee, officer delegation and contacts						      27

Annex 1 - List of consultees	 29

Page 20



Page 3 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
Document name Gambling Statement of Prinicples

Document description Policy on licensing functions carried out under 
the Gambling Act 2005

Document status Published

Lead officer Elisa Pendered, Environmental and Leisure 
Business Support Officer

Produced by (service name) Public Protection - Licensing

Relevant to the services listed  
or all NNDC Service specific

Approved by

Approval date

Type of document Policy

Equality Impact Assessment details Not Required

Review interval Every 3 years

Next review date 31 January 2028

Version Originator Description including reason for changes Date

2025 Elisa Pendered Statutory review of statement of 
principles 29/01/2025

Page 21



Page 4 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
Part A

1. The Licensing Objectives

	 1.1	 In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005  
		  (hereafter referred to as the Act), licensing authorities must have regard to  
		  the licensing objectives as set out in Section 1 of the Act. The licensing  
		  objectives are:
		  -	 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being
			   associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime
		  -	 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
		  -	 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being  
			   harmed or exploited by gambling

		  It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated:  
		  “The requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from  
		  being harmed or exploited by gambling”.

	 1.2	 North Norfolk District Council is aware that, as per Section 153 of the Act, 	
		  in making decisions about premises licences and temporary use notices  
		  it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it  
		  thinks it:
		  -	 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 		
			   Gambling Commission
		  -	 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
			   Commission (www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/PDF/GLA5-		
			   updated-September-2016.pdf)
		  -	 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives
		  -	 in accordance with the Authority’s Gambling Licensing Policy  
			   Statement of Principles

2. Introduction

	 2.1	 North Norfolk District Council is situated in the County of Norfolk, which
		  contains seven District Councils in total. The Council area has a population  
		  of approximately 105,000 covering an area of 400 square miles making it  
		  one of the smaller districts in Norfolk. The Council’s area is mainly  
		  rural/coastal and has 5 market towns. Licences that can be issued under  
		  the Gambling Act 2005 in North Norfolk District Council’s areas relate to,  
		  for example, betting shops, permitting gambling machines in licenced  
		  premises, family entertainment centres, adult gaming centres, bingo  
		  venues, and racetracks.

	 2.2	 The mainstays of North Norfolk’s economies are tourism, agriculture and
		  service industries. The majority of these sectors have suffered decline in
		  employment and are prone to cyclical and seasonal variations.

	 2.3	 Licensing authorities are required by the Act to publish a statement of the
		  principles which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  
		  This statement must be published at least every three years. The statement  
		  must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts re- 
		  consulted upon. The statement must be then re-published. The Council’s  
		  first gambling policy was adopted on 1st November 2006.

Page 22



Page 5 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
	 2.4	 North Norfolk District Council will consult widely upon this statement of
		  principles before finalising and publishing. A list of persons who have been
		  consulted is provided in Annex 1.
	 2.5	 The Act requires that the following parties are consulted by  
		  licensing authorities:
		  -	 The Chief Officer of Police
		  -	 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent  
			   the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the 	  
			   authority’s area
		  -	 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the  
			   interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of  
			   the authority’s functions under the Act

	 Our consultation took place between the 5 July 2018 and 3 September 2018
	 and followed HM Government Consultation Principles (published 2018),  
	 which is available at; www.gov.uk/government/publications/ 
	 consultationprinciples-guidance

	 2.6	 The full list of any comments made and the consideration by the Council of
		  those comments will be available by request to the Environmental and  
		  Leisure Business Support Manager at the Council.

		  The policy was originally approved at a meeting of the Full Council on 21  
		  November 2018 and was published via the Council’s website on 14 January  
		  2019. Further reviews did not constitute material change and reflected  
		  style and reference changes.

	 2.7	 Should you have any comments as regards this statement of principles  
		  please send them via email or letter to:

		  The Licensing Manager
		  North Norfolk District Council
		  Holt Road
		  Cromer
		  Norfolk
		  NR27 9EN

		  licensing@north-norfolk.gov.uk

	 2.8	 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of  
		  any person to make an application, make representations about an  
		  application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on  
		  its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Act.

3. Declaration

In producing the final statement, North Norfolk District Council declares that it has had 
regard to the licensing objectives of the Act, the Guidance to local authorities issued by 
the Gambling Commission and any responses from those consulted on the statement.

4. Responsible Authorities

	 4.1	 The licensing authority is required to state the principles it will apply in
		  exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in  
		  writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the  

Page 23



Page 6 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  protection of children from harm. The principles are:
		  -	 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the  
			   whole of the licensing authority’s area
		  -	 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected  
			   persons, rather than any particular vested interest group

	 This Authority designates the Norfolk Local Safeguarding Children Board for
	 this purpose; www.norfolklscb.org
	 The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Act are
	 attached at Annex 2.

5. Interested Parties

	 5.1	 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications or
		  apply for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in the
		  Gambling Act 2005 as follows: “For the purposes of this Part a person is an  
		  interested party in relation to an application for or in respect of a premises  
		  licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which issues the licence  
		  or to which the applications is made, the person;
		  a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the  
		       authorised activities
		  b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities
		  c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”

	 5.2	 The licensing authority is required to state the principles it will apply in
		  exercising its powers under the Act to determine whether a person is an
		  interested party. The principles are:
		  -	 Each case will be decided upon its merits. This Authority will not  
			   apply a rigid rule to its decision making. It will consider the examples  
			   of considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s guidance  
			   for local authorities. It will also consider the Gambling Commission’s 	
			   guidance that “has business interests” should be given the widest  
			   possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith  
			   groups and medical practices.
		  -	 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected  
			   such as Councillors and MP’s. No specific evidence of being asked to  
			   represent an interested person will be required if the Councillor/MP  
			   represents the wards likely to be affected. Likewise, Parish Councils  
			   likely to be affected will be considered to be interested parties.  
			   Other than these however, this Authority will generally require  
			   written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate/relative)  
			   ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the  
			   premises to be likely to be affected and/or has business interests  
			   that might be affected by the authorised activities. A letter from one 	
			   of these persons, requesting the representation is sufficient.
		  -	 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent 	
			   their views, then care should be taken that the Councillors are not  
			   part of the Licensing Committee dealing with the licence  
			   application. If there are any doubts, then please contact the  
			   Council’s Public Protection Team.

6. Exchange of Information

	 6.1	 Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the  

Page 24



Page 7 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under  
		  Sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information  
		  between it and the Gambling Commission and the functions under Section  
	 350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of information between it and  
	 the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.

	 6.2	 The principle that North Norfolk District Council applies is that it will act in
		  accordance with the provisions of the Act in its exchange of information  
		  which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 will not be
		  contravened. The Licensing Authority will also have regard to any guidance
		  issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities on this matter, as  
		  well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the  
		  powers provided in the Act.

7. Enforcement

	 7.1	 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Act to state the
		  principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under  
		  Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the  
		  powers under Section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in  
		  respect of the offences specified in section 346.

	 7.2	 North Norfolk District Council’s principles are it will be guided by the  
		  Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities and will endeavour  
		  to be:
		  -	 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:
			   remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed and costs  
			   identified and minimised
		  -	 Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions and be
			   subject to public scrutiny
		  -	 Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and  
			   implemented fairly
		  -	 Transparent: regulators should be open and keep regulations simple
			   and user friendly
		  -	 Targeted: regulations should be focused on the problem and 		
			   minimise side effects

	 7.3	 The Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other
		  regulatory regimes so far as possible.

	 7.4	 North Norfolk District Council inspection programme will be risk-based and  
		  take into account;
		  -	 The licensing objectives
		  -	 Relevant codes of practice
		  -	 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at  
			   Part 36
		  -	 This statement of principles

		  The main enforcement and compliance role for North Norfolk District  
		  Council in terms of the Act is to ensure compliance with the premises  
		  licences and other permissions which it authorises. The Gambling  
		  Commission is the enforcement body for the operating and personal  
		  licences. It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply  
		  or repair of gaming machines and gambling software are not dealt with  

Page 25



Page 8 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  by the Licensing Authority but should be notified to the  
		  Gambling Commission.

8. Licensing Authority Functions

Licensing authorities are required under the Act to:
	 -	 be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are  
		  to take place by issuing Premises Licences 
	 -	 issue Provisional Statements 
	 -	 regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 
		  undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits  
		  and/or Club Machine Permits 
	 -	 issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs 
	 -	 grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at  
		  unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres 
	 -	 receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing  
		  Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines 
	 -	 issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to  
		  sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the  
		  Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines 
	 -	 register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 
	 -	 issue Prize Gaming Permits 
	 -	 receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices 
	 -	 receive Occasional Use Notices 
	 -	 provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of  
		  licences issued (see section above on ‘information exchange’) 
	 -	 maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under  
		  these functions
	
	 It should be noted that Licensing Authorities are not involved in licensing
	 remote gambling at all; this is regulated by the Gambling Commission via
	 operating licences.

Page 26



Page 9 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
Part B

9. Premises licences: consideration of applications

	 9.1	 General Principles
		  Premises licences are subject to the requirements set-out in the Gambling 	
		  Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default  
		  conditions which are detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of  
		  State. Licensing Authorities are able to exclude or amend default  
		  conditions and also attach others, where it is deemed to be appropriate to  
		  ensure licensing objectives are met.

	 9.2	 Decision making
		  North Norfolk District Council is aware that in making decisions about  
		  premises licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling  
		  in so far as it thinks it:
		  -	 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the
			   Gambling Commission
		  -	 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the  
			   Gambling Commission
		  -	 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives
		  -	 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy

		  It is appreciated that as per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local
		  authorities “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject
		  applications for premises licences” (except as regards any ‘no casino
		  resolution’ - see section on Casinos below – Paragraph 21) and also that  
		  unmet demand is not a criterion for a Licensing Authority.

	 9.3	 Definition of “premises” and gaming machine categories
		  In the Act, “premises” is defined as including “any place”. Section 152
		  prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place. But
		  a single building could be subject to more than one premises licence, 	  
		  provided they are for different parts of the building and the different parts  
		  of the building can be reasonably regarded as being different premises.  
		  This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as  
		  a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises  
		  licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place. However, the Licensing  
		  Authority shall pay particular attention if there are issues about  
		  sub-divisions of a single building or plot and shall ensure that mandatory  
		  conditions relating to access between premises are observed.

		  The Gambling Commission states in its guidance to licensing authorities  
		  that: “In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be  
		  the subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street. But,  
		  that does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate  
		  premises licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured  
		  acceptably. Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded  
		  as being separate premises will depend on the circumstances. The location  
		  of the premises will clearly be an important consideration and the  
		  suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the  
		  operator and the Licensing Officer. However, the Commission does not  
		  consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily  

Page 27



Page 10 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be  
		  regarded as different premises.”

	 9.4	 North Norfolk District Council takes particular note of the Gambling  
		  Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities which states that:  
		  Licensing Authorities should take particular care in considering  
		  applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a  
		  discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  
		  In particular, they should be aware of the following:
		  -	 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being  
			   harmed by gambling. In practice that means not only preventing  
			   them from taking part in gambling, but also preventing them from  
			   being in close proximity to gambling. Therefore, premises should be  
			   configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have  
			   accidental access to or closely observe gambling where they are  
			   prohibited from participating
		  -	 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or  
			   more premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that  
			   the separation of different premises is not compromised and people  
			   do not “drift” into a gambling area. In this context it should normally  
			   be possible to access the premises without going through another 	
			   licensed premises or premises with a permit
		  -	 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the
			   premises licence

		  The guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority  
		  should be aware of, which may include:
		  -	 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
		  -	 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person 	
			   or someone else?
		  -	 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a  
			   public passageway?
		  -	 Can the premises only be accessed from any other  
			   gambling premises?

		  This Authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its
		  decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.

	 9.5	  Gaming Machine Categories 
		  Gaming machine categories are available on the Gambling Commission’s  
		  website at: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-  
		  businesses/guide/gaming-machine-categories

	 9.6	 The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each  
		  premises type
		
		  9.6.1	  Casinos
			   -	 The principal access entrance to the premises must be  
				    from a street
			   -	 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used  
				    wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons
			   -	 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any  
				    other premises which holds a gambling premises licence
		
		  9.6.2	  Adult Gaming Centre

Page 28



Page 11 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other
		  licensed gambling premises

		  9.6.3	  Betting Shops
			   -	 Access must be from a street or from another premises with a  
				    betting premises licence
			   -	 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises  
				    used for the retail sale of merchandise or services. In effect  
				    there cannot be an entrance to a betting shop from a shop of  
				    any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the back of  
				    a café – the whole area would have to be licensed.

		  9.6.4	 Tracks
			   -	 No customer should be able to access the premises  
				    directly from:
				    -	 a casino
				    -	 an adult gaming centre

		  9.6.5	 Bingo Premises
			   -	 No customer must be able to access the premise  
				    directly from:
				    -	 a casino
				    -	 an adult gaming centre
				    -	 a betting premises, other than a track

		  9.6.6	 Family Entertainment Centre
			   - 	 No customer must be able to access the premises  
				    directly from:
				    -	 a casino
				    -	 an adult gaming centre
				    -	 a betting premises, other than a track

		  The Gambling Commission’s guidance to licensing authorities contains
		  further guidance on this issue, which this Authority will also take into
		  account in its decision-making.

	 9.7	 Location
		  North Norfolk District Council is aware that demand issues cannot be  
		  considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations  
		  in terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to its decision-making. As  
		  per the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities, this  
		  Authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and  
		  vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as  
		  issues of crime and disorder.

	 9.8	 Local Area Profiling
		  The Social Responsibility Code, which is part of the Gambling 		   
		  Commissions, Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice, most recently 	
		  published in January 2018 (effective from 4 April 2018) requires licensees 	
		  to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by their gambling  
		  operations at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and  
		  control measures to mitigate those risks. Additionally, applicants must  
		  undertake a local assessment when applying for a new or variation of a  
		  premises licence, to	take account of significant changes in the local  

Page 29



Page 12 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  circumstances or when there are significant changes at the  
		  licensee’s premises.

		  Licensees should share their risk assessment with the Licensing Authority
		  when applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing
		  licenced premises, or otherwise on request. The Licensing Authority is  
		  aware that there is no mandatory requirement to have a local area profile  
		  but recognises that one may offer a number of benefits. Should evidence  
		  be obtained to identify local risk areas then these will be reflected in a  
		  separate document and made available from the Public Protection Team  
		  and on the Council’s website. Enquiries with relevant organisations have  
		  not revealed any data to suggest that there are any areas within the district  
		  that could be identified as a risk.

	 9.9	 Public Health and Gambling
		  The District Council will work with Norfolk County Council Public Health  
		  Team to support the national position of the Gambling Commission on the  
		  prevention of problem gambling 1, which the commission states should be  
		  a public health issue that is tackled in a comprehensive way alongside  
		  other public health issues like alcohol, drug misuse, or obesity, addressed  
		  by a range oforganisations and agencies working co-operatively.

		  Public Health’s role is to focus on the prevention of harm to vulnerable  
		  people within Norfolk, and any health harms that can be caused, or  
		  exacerbated by gambling. North Norfolk District Council, as the Local  
		  authority, welcomes the support and assistance from Norfolk County  
		  Council to residents based in North Norfolk to support a move towards  
		  the prevention of health harms for individuals and communities being  
		  considered in the Gambling licensing process.

		  Norfolk County Council should support North Norfolk District Council  
		  and the Statement of principles, and, where appropriate, a Local profile  
		  that identifies the wider health harms relating to gambling that includes  
		  mental health, housing, community welfare and debt. All these areas are  
		  connected to poor health outcomes, not only for an individual, but for the  
		  surrounding family and the community; www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/ 
		  PDF/Gambling-related-harm-as-a-public-health-issue.pdf

	 9.10	 Planning Permission / Building Regulations
		  In determining applications, the Licensing Authority will take into  
		  consideration only matters that are related to gambling and the licensing  
		  objectives. An example would be: the likelihood of the applicant obtaining  
		  planning permission or building regulations approval for their proposal.
		  The Licensing Authority is aware that a premises licence, once it comes  
		  into effect, authorises premises to be used for gambling.

	 9.11	 Duplication with other regulatory regimes
		  North Norfolk District Council seeks to avoid any duplication with other  
		  statutory/regulatory systems where possible, including planning as  
		  indicated above.

	 9.12	 Licensing objectives
		  Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing  
		  objectives. Regarding these objectives, North Norfolk District Council  
		  has considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities  

Page 30



Page 13 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  and some comments are made below.

		
		  9.12.1	 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder,
			   being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support
			   crime. North Norfolk District Council is aware that the Gambling  
			   Commission takes a leading role in preventing gambling from  
			   being a source of crime. The Gambling Commission’s guidance  
			   does however envisage that Licensing Authorities should pay  
			   attention to the proposed location of gambling premises in terms  
			   of this licensing objective. Thus, where an area has known high levels  
			   of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether  
			   gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether  
			   conditions may be suitable, such as, the provision of door  
			   supervisors. North Norfolk District Council is aware of the distinction  
			   between disorder and nuisance and will consider factors (for  
			   example whether police assistance was required and how  
			   threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it) so as to  
			   make that distinction.

		  9.12.2	 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way. This
			   Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states  
			   that it generally does not expect Licensing Authorities to be  
			   onerously concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a  
			   fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating and  
			   personal licences. The only exception to this is for tracks, which is  
			   covered in paragraph 25 below.

		  9.12.3	 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being
			   harmed or exploited by gambling. North Norfolk District Council  
			   has noted the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities’  
			   states that this objective means preventing children from taking  
			   part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that  
			   gambling products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to  
			   children). The Licensing Authority will therefore consider, as  
			   suggested in the Gambling Commission’s guidance, whether specific  
			   measures are required at particular premises, with regard to this  
			   licensing objective. Appropriate measures may include supervision  
			   of entrances/machines, segregation of areas etc.

			   As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the  
			   Gambling Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states  
			   that “it will for regulatory purposes assume that this group includes  
			   people who gamble more than they want to; people who gambling  
			   beyond their means; and people who may not be able to make  
			   informed or balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental  
			   impairment, alcohol or drugs”. North Norfolk District Council will  
			   consider this licensing objective on a case-by-case basis.

	 9.13	 Conditions
		  Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:
		  -	 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a  
			   gambling facility
		  -	 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for

Page 31



Page 14 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  -	 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises
		  -	 reasonable in all other respects

		  Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case-by-case basis,  
		  although there will be a number of measures North Norfolk District Council  
		  will consider utilising should there be a need to ensure the licensing  
		  objectives are met’. such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for  
		  adult only areas etc. There are specific comments made in this regard  
		  under some of the licence types below. North Norfolk District Council will  
		  also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to  
		  ways in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

		  North Norfolk District Council will also consider specific measures which  
		  may be required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises  
		  licences. Such measures may include the supervision of entrances,  
		  segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children;  
		  and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific  
		  premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.

		  This Authority will ensure that where category C or above machines are on
		  offer in premises to which children are admitted: all such machines
		  are located in an area of the premises which is separated from the  
		  remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which
		  -	 is effective to prevent access other than through a  
			   designated entrance
		  -	 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines  
			   are located
		  -	 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised
		  -	 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that  
			   it can be
		  -	 observed by the staff or the licence holder
		  -	 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently  
			   displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited  
			   to persons under 18

		  North Norfolk District Council is aware that tracks may be subject to one  
		  or more than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a  
		  specified area of the track. As per the Gambling Commission’s guidance,  
		  North Norfolk District Council will consider the impact upon the third  
		  licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of  
		  premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas  
		  where they are not permitted to enter.

		  It is noted that there are conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot  
		  attach to premises licences which are:
		  -	 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to  
			   comply with an operating licence condition
		  -	 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers,  
			   or method of operation
		  -	 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be  
			   required (the Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the  
			   membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this  
			   provision prevents it being reinstated

Page 32



Page 15 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  -	 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes, except entry  
			   fees for admission to a track

	 9.14	 Door Supervisors
		  If the Licensing Authority is concerned that a premises may attract
		  disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example by  
		  children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the  
		  premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a  
		  condition on the premises licence to this effect.

	 9.15	 Adult Gaming Centres
		  North Norfolk District Council will specifically have regard to the need to  
		  protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited  
		  by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that  
		  there will be sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that under 18-year- 
		  olds do not have access to the premises.

		  North Norfolk District Council may consider measures to meet the licensing  
		  objectives such as:
		  -	 Proof of age schemes
		  -	 CCTV
		  -	 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
		  -	 Physical separation of areas
		  -	 Location of entry
		  -	 Notices / signage
		  -	 Specific opening hours
		  -	 Self-exclusion schemes
		  -	 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations  
			   such as GamCare

		  This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of  
		  example measures.

	 9.16	 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres
		  North Norfolk District Council will specifically have regard to the need to  
		  protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by  
		  gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for example,  
		  that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18-year-olds do  
		  not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas.

		  North Norfolk District Council may consider measures to meet the licensing  
		  objectives such as:
		  -	 CCTV
		  -	 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
		  -	 Physical separation of areas
		  -	 Location of entry
		  -	 Notices/signage
		  -	 Specific opening hours
		  -	 Self-exclusion schemes
		  -	 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for  
			   organisations such as GamCare 
		  -	 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant  
			   school children on the premises

Page 33



Page 16 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of  
		  example measures.

	 9.17	 Casinos
		  There are currently no casinos operating within the District. The Licensing  
		  Authority has not passed a resolution under S166 of the Gambling Act  
		  2005 not to issue casino premises licences. Any future decision to pass 		
		  such a resolution will only be taken after a full consultation process has  
		  been undertaken and the statement of principles would be updated.

	 9.18	 Bingo premises
		  Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however, they  
		  are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C  
		  machines are made available for use these must be separated from areas  
		  where children and young people are allowed.

	 9.19	 Betting premises
		  A ‘betting machine’ is not a gaming machine and the Council is aware  
		  that it can attach a condition to restrict the number of betting machines.  
		  North Norfolk District Council will, as per the Gambling Commission’s  
		  guidance, consider the size of the premises, the number of counter  
		  positions available for person-to-person transactions and the ability of 	  
		  staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons  
		  (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when  
		  considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an  
		  operator wants to offer.

	 9.20	 Tracks
		  North Norfolk District Council is aware that tracks may be subject to one or  
		  more than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a  
		  specified area of the track.

		  This Authority expects the premises licence applicant to demonstrate  
		  suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only  
		  gaming facilities. It is noted that children and young persons will be  
		  permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on  
		  days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that they are  
		  still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than  
		  category D machines) are provided.

		  North Norfolk District Council may consider measures to meet the licensing  
		  objectives such as:
		  -	 Proof of age schemes
		  -	 CCTV
		  -	 Supervision of entrances/machine areas
		  -	 Physical separation of areas
		  -	 Location of entry
		  -	 Notices/signage
		  -	 Specific opening hours
		  -	 Self-exclusion schemes
		  -	 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations  
			   such as Game Care

		  This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of  
		  example measures.

Page 34



Page 17 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
	 9.21	  Gaming machines – Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating
		  licence and is going to use the entitlement to four gaming machines,  
		  machines (other than category D machines) should be located in areas  
		  from which children are excluded.

	 9.22	  Betting machines – North Norfolk District Council will, as per the Gambling
		  Commission’s guidance, take into account the size of the premises and  
		  the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and  
		  young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable  
		  people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting  
		  machines an operator proposes to offer.

	 9.23	 Applications and plans
		  Section 151 of the Act requires applicants to submit plans of the premises 	
		  with their application, in order to ensure that the Licensing Authority has  
		  the necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether  
		  the premises are fit for gambling.

		  Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale but should be  
		  drawn to scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the  
		  information required by regulations.

		  Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter  
		  is not defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point  
		  racetracks. In such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises  
		  licence holders may erect temporary structures to restrict access  
		  to premises.

		  In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely  
		  that the track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent  
		  holding of sporting events or races. In such cases betting facilities may be  
		  better provided through occasional use notices where the boundary  
		  premises do not need to be defined.

		  This Authority appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the  
		  precise location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where  
		  betting facilities are provided is not required to be shown on track  
		  plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is permitted anywhere on the  
		  premises and because of the difficulties associated with pinpointing exact  
		  locations for some types of track. Applicants should provide sufficient  
		  information that this authority can satisfy itself that the plan indicates  
		  the main areas where betting might take place. For racecourses in  
		  particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” (commonly  
		  known as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan. It is appreciated  
		  that racecourses may need the flexibility to provide different facilities  
		  on different days without the need to vary the licence and this will be  
		  reflected in the application process.

	 9.24	 Travelling Fairs
		  North Norfolk District Council is responsible for deciding whether (where  
		  category D machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit  
		  is to be made available for use at travelling fairs) the statutory requirement  
		  that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary  
		  amusement at the fair is met and will also consider whether the applicant  

Page 35



Page 18 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  falls within the statutory definition of a travelling fair

		  It is noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used 		
		  as a fair applies on a per calendar year basis and that it applies to the  
		  piece of land on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the  
		  same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. North Norfolk District  
		  Council will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land  
		  which crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are  
		  not exceeded.

	 9.25	 Provisional Statements
		  Developers may wish to apply to this Authority for provisional statements  
		  before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge  
		  whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to  
		  obtain a premises licence. There is no need for the applicant to hold an  
		  operating licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.
 
		  Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an  
		  application to the licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect  
		  of premises that he or she:
		  -	 expects to be constructed
		  -	 expects to be altered
		  -	 expects to acquire a right to occupy

		  The process for considering an application for a provisional statement  
		  is the same as that for a premises licence application. The Applicant is  
		  obliged to give notice of the application in the same way as applying  
		  for a premises licence. Responsible authorities and interested parties may  
		  make representations and there are rights of appeal.

		  In contrast to the premises licence application, the Applicant does not  
		  have to hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling  
		  Commission and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises 	
		  in respect of which their provisional application is made.

		  The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises 		
		  licence once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The  
		  Licensing Authority will be constrained in the matters it can consider when  
		  determining the premises licence application, and in terms of  
		  representations about premises licence applications that follow the grant  
		  of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant  
		  authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless:
		  -	 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the  
			   provisional statement stage
		  -	 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances

		  In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on  
		  terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by  
		  reference to matters:
		  -	 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional  
			   statement stage
		  -	 which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the  
			   operator’s circumstances
		  -	 where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with  
			   the plan submitted with the application. This must be a substantial  
			   change to the plan and North Norfolk District Council notes that it  

Page 36



Page 19 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
			   can discuss any concerns it has with the Applicant before making  
			   a decision.

	 9.26	 Reviews
		  Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 		
		  parties or responsible authorities; however, it is for the Licensing Authority  
		  to decide whether the review is to be carried-out. This will be based on  
		  whether the request for the review is relevant to the matters listed below:
		  -	 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the  
			   Gambling Commission
		  -	 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the  
			   Gambling Commission
		  -	 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives
		  -	 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy

		  The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the  
		  authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will  
		  certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the  
		  licence, or whether it is substantially the same as previous representations  
		  or requests for review.

		  The Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises 	
		  licence, or a particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason  
		  which it thinks is appropriate.

		  Once a valid application for a review has been received by the Licensing  
		  Authority, representations can be made by the licensee, responsible  
		  authorities and interested parties during a 28-day period. This period  
		  begins 7 days after the application was received by the licensing authority,  
		  who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt and  
		  advertise it within 10 working days from the day after receipt

		  The Licensing Authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after  
		  the 28-day period for making representations has passed.

		  The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing  
		  authority should take any action in relation to the licence. If action is  
		  justified, the options open to the licensing authority are:
		  -	 add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the  
			   licensing authority
		  -	 exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g.  
			   opening hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion
		  -	 suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding  
			   three months
		  -	 revoke the premises licence

		  In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the  
		  Licensing Authority must have regard to the principles set out in Section  
		  153 of the Act, as well as any relevant representations.

		  In particular, the Licensing Authority may also initiate a review of a  
		  premises licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not  

Page 37



Page 20 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  provided facilities for gambling at the premises. This is to prevent people  
		  from applying for licences in a speculative manner without intending to  
		  use them.
		  Once the review has been completed, the Licensing Authority must, as  
		  soon as possible, notify its decision to:
		  -	 the licence holder
		  -	 the applicant for review (if any)
		  -	 the Commission
		  -	 any person who made representations
		  -	 the chief officer of police or chief constable
		  -	 Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

Page 38



Page 21 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
Part C

10. Permits: temporary and occasional use policy

	 10.1	 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits  
		  (Statement of Principles on Permits – Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

		  Where a premise does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide  
		  gaming machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit.  
		  It should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be  
		  wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use  
		  (Section 238).

		  The Act states that a Licensing Authority may prepare a Statement of  
		  Principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an  
		  applicant for a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering  
		  applications, it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives  
		  and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling  
		  Commission under Section 25 of the Act. It should be noted that a  
		  Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type of permit.

		  North Norfolk District Council has adopted the following Statement of  
		  Principles, in respect of unlicensed FECs: The Licensing Authority will  
		  expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in  
		  place to protect children from harm. Such policies/procedures will be  
		  considered on their merits; however, they may include appropriate  
		  measures on staff training about how to deal with suspected truancy,  
		  how to deal with unsupervised very young children being on the premises  
		  and children causing problems around the premises.

		  The Licensing Authority will also expect the applicants demonstrate a full  
		  understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is  
		  permissible in unlicensed FECs, and that staff are trained to have a full  
		  understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.

		  The Licensing Authority will require the following to be submitted in
		  addition to the application form and fee:
		  -	 Proof of the applicant’s identity and age
		  -	 Proof of the applicant’s right to occupy the premises
		  -	 (Where the applicant is an individual) a Basic Disclosure Certificate 	
			   (BDC) dated no earlier than one calendar month on the day the 	  
			   application is received by the licensing authority. Holders  
			   of operating licences issued by the Gambling Commission are  
			   exempt from this requirement
		  -	 An insurance certificate (or certified copy) confirming the availability  
			   of public liability insurance covering the proposed activity

		  A plan scale 1:100 of the premises showing:
		  -	 boundary of the premises including any internal and external walls,  
			   entrances, exits, doorways and windows, and indicating the points of  
			   access available to the public
		  -	 location of any fixed or temporary structures
		  -	 location of any counters, booths, offices or other locations from
			   which staff may monitor the activities of persons on the premises

Page 39



Page 22 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  -	 location of any public toilets within the boundary of the premises
		  -	 location of CCTV cameras
		  -	 location of any ATM or other cash/change machines
		  -	 proposed location of the Category ‘D’ machines
		  -	 details of non-category ‘D’ machines (e.g. skill with prizes machines)

	 10.2	 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits (Schedule 13  
		  paragraph 4(1)) Automatic entitlement: 2 machines
		  There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for  
		  consumption on the premises to automatically have 2 gaming machines,  
		  of categories C and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the  
		  Licensing Authority.

		  The Licensing Authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect  
		  of any premises if:
		  -	 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the  
			   pursuit of the licensing objectives
		  -	 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition  
			   of Section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been  
			   provided to the Licensing Authority, that a fee has been provided  
			   and that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling  
			   Commission about the location and operation of the machine has  
			   been complied with)
		  -	 the premises are mainly used for gaming an offence under the  
			   Gambling Act has been committed on the premises

		  10.2.1	 Permit: 3 or more machines
			   If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs  
			   to apply for a permit and the licensing authority must consider that  
			   application based upon the licensing objectives, any guidance  
			   issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of the  
			   Gambling Act 2005, and ‘such matters as they think relevant.’

			   North Norfolk District Council considers that ‘such matters’ will  
			   be decided on a case-by-case basis but generally there will be  
			   regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons  
			   from harmed or being exploited by gambling and will expect the  
			   applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient  
			   measures to ensure that under 18-year-olds do not have access to  
			   the adult only gaming machines. Measures which will satisfy the  
			   authority that there will be no access may include the adult  
			   machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff that will  
			   monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18. 

			   Notices and signage may also be help. As regards the protection  
			   of vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to consider the provision  
			   of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such  
			   as GamCare.

			   It should be noted that the Licensing Authority can decide to  
			   grant the application with a smaller number of machines and/or  
			   a different category of machines than that applied for. Conditions  
			   (other than these) cannot be attached.

Page 40



Page 23 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
			   It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply  
			   with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission
			   about the location and operation of the machine.

		  10.2.2	 Prize Gaming Permits
			   The Act states that a licensing authority may “prepare a statement  
			   of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions  
			   under this Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters  
			   that the Licensing Authority proposes to consider in determining the  
			   suitability of the applicant for a permit”.

			   North Norfolk District Council has prepared a Statement of  
			   Principles which is that the applicant should set out the types of	  
			   gaming that he or she is intending to offer and that the applicant  
			   should be able to demonstrate:
			   -	 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are  
				    set out in regulations
			   -	 that the gaming offered is within the law
			   -	 clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect  
				    children from harm

			   The Licensing Authority shall also require (where the applicant is  
			   an individual) a Basic Disclosure Certificate (BDC) dated no earlier  
			   than one calendar month on the day the application is received
			   by the Licensing Authority. Holders of operating licences issued by 	
			   the Gambling Commission are exempt from this requirement.

			   In making its decision on an application for this permit the Licensing  
			   Authority does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing  
			   objectives but must have regard to any Gambling Commission  
			   guidance. (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)).

			   It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act  
			   2005 by which the permit holder must comply, but that the  
			   Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions. The conditions in the  
			   Act are:
			   -	 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must  
				    be complied with
			   -	 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on  
				    the premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one  
				    day; the game must be played and completed on the day the  
				    chances are allocated, and the result of the game must be  
				    made public in the premises on the day that it is played
			   -	 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed  
				    the amount set out in regulations (if a money prize), or the  
				    prescribed value (if non-monetary prize)
			   -	 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take  
				    part in any other gambling

		  10.2.3	 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits
			   Members Clubs and Miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial  
			   Clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs Gaming  
			   machines permit. The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises  
			   to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D),  
			   equal chance gaming and games of chance as set-out in  

Page 41



Page 24 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
			   forthcoming regulations. A Club Gaming machine permit will enable  
			   the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories  
			   B, C or D).

		  Licensing authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that:
		  -	 the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or  
			   commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not  
			   entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied
		  -	 the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children  
			   and/or young persons
		  -	 an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been  
			   committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities
		  -	 a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the  
			   previous ten years
		  -	 an objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission 
			   or the police.

		  There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises 	
		  which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003.

		  (Schedule 12 paragraph 10). As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for  
		  local authorities’ states: “Under the fast-track procedure there is no  
		  opportunity for objections to be made by the Gambling Commission or the  
		  police, and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit are  
		  reduced” and “the grounds on which an application under the process may  
		  be refuse are:
		  -	 that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming  
			   of a prescribed nature
		  -	 that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides  
			   facilities for other gaming
		  -	 that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the  
			   applicant in the last ten years has been cancelled

		  There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a  
		  category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies 	  
		  with any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and  
		  operation of gaming machines.

	 10.2.4	 Temporary Use Notices
		  Temporary use notices allow the use of premises for gambling where  
		  there is no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to  
		  use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  
		  Premises that might be suitable for a temporary use notice, according  
		  to the Gambling Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and  
		  sporting venues.

		  The Licensing Authority can only grant a temporary use notice to a person  
		  or company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino  
		  operating licence.

		  A temporary use notice may be used to provide gambling for for no more 	
		  than 21 days in any 12-month period.

		  A temporary use notice must be submitted to the council at least 3 months  
		  and 1 day before the gambling event will begin.

Page 42



Page 25 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  The application must be copied to:
		  -	 the Gambling Commission,
		  -	 the chief officer of police for the area in which the premises  
			   are situated,
		  -	 HM Revenue and Customs, and
		  -	 if applicable, any other licensing authority in whose area the  
			   premises are also situated.

		  Gaming machines may not be made available under a temporary  
		  use notice.

		  10.2.5	 Occasional Use Notices
			   The Licensing Authority has little discretion as regards these notices  
			   aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar  
			   year is not exceeded. An occasional use notice must be submitted  
			   for each day that betting activity will be conducted on the premises.  
			   If betting activity is to be held over a period of eight consecutive  
			   days, it will be necessary to submit eight separate notices.

	 10.3	 Small Society Lotteries
		  The Licensing Authority will register and administer smaller non- 
		  commercial lotteries and applicants for lottery licences must apply to the  
		  licensing authority in the area where their principal office is located.

		  The Licensing Authority must be satisfied that the ‘society’ is established  
		  and conducted:
		  -	 for charitable purposes (as defined in S2 of the Charities Act 2006);
		  -	 for the purpose of enabling participation in, or of supporting, sport,
			   athletics or a cultural nature activity; or
		  -	 for any other non-commercial purpose other than private gain.

		  In determining whether the Society is non-commercial the Licensing  
		  Authority may require applicants to provide copies of the society’s  
		  constitution or terms of reference.

		  For new applications, the Licensing Authority shall require the promoter of  
		  the lottery to produce a Basic Disclosure and Barring Service Certificate  
		  (DBS) dated no earlier than one calendar month on the day the application  
		  is received by the Licensing Authority.

		  The total value of tickets to be put on sale per single lottery must be  
		  £20,000 or less, or the aggregate value of tickets to be put on sale for all  
		  their lotteries in a calendar year must not exceed £250,000.

		  If the operator plans to exceed either of these values, then they must be  
		  licensed by the Gambling Commission, as a large lottery and cannot  
		  receive a small society lottery licence from North Norfolk District Council.

		  The Licensing Authority may refuse an application for registration if in  
		  its opinion:
		  -	 The applicant is not a non-commercial society
		  -	 A person who will or may be connected with the promotion of the  
			   lottery has been convicted of a relevant offence
		  -	 Information provided in or with the application for registration is 		
			   false or misleading

Page 43



Page 26 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  Where the Licensing Authority intends to refuse registration of a Society, it  
		  will give the society an opportunity to make representations and will  
		  inform the society of the reasons for refusal and supply evidence on which 	
		  it has reached that preliminary conclusion. The Licensing Authority  
		  will make available on its website its procedures on how it  
		  handles representations.

		  The Licensing Authority may revoke the registered status of a society  
		  if it thinks that they would have had to, or would be entitled to; refuse  
		  an application for registration if it were being made at that time. However,  
		  no revocations will take place unless the society has been given the  
		  opportunity to make representations. The Licensing Authority will inform  
		  the society of the reasons for revocation and will provide an outline of the  
		  evidence on which it has reached that preliminary conclusion.

Page 44



Page 27 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
Part D

11. Committee, officer delegation and contacts

	 11.1	 Committee decisions and scheme of delegation
		  The Licensing Authority is involved in a wide range of licensing  
		  decisions and functions and has established a Licensing Committee  
		  to administer them.

		  Licensing Sub-Committee is made up of three councillors from the main  
		  Licensing Committee who will hear applications where representations  
		  have been received from interested parties and responsible authorities.
		  Ward Councillors will not sit on a Sub-Committee involving an application  
		  within their ward.

		  Where a councillor who is a member of the Licensing Committee is making 	
		  or has made representations regarding a licence on behalf of an interested  
		  party, in the interests of good governance they will disqualify themselves  
		  from any involvement in the decision-making process affecting the licence  
		  in question.

		  The Council’s licensing officers will deal with all other licensing applications  
		  where either no representations have been received, or where  
		  representations have been received and it is agreed by the parties that a  
		  hearing is not necessary.

		  Decisions as to whether representations are irrelevant, frivolous or  
		  vexatious will be made by Council officers, who will make the decisions on  
		  whether representations or applications for licence reviews should be  
		  referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee. Where representations are  
		  rejected, the person making that representation will be given written  
		  reason as to why that is the case. There is no right of appeal against  
		  determination that representations are not admissible.

		  The table shown at Annex 2 sets out the agreed delegation of decisions  
		  and functions to Licensing Committee, Sub-Committee and officers.

		  This form of delegation is without prejudice to officers referring an  
		  application to a sub-committee or full committee if considered appropriate  
		  in the circumstances of any particular case.

	 11.2	 Contacts
		  Further information about the Gambling Act 2005, this Statement of  
		  Licensing policy or the application process can be obtained from:

		  Licensing Team
		  North Norfolk District Council
		  Holt Road
		  Cromer
		  NR27 9EN
	
		  Tel: 01263 516189
		  E-mail: Licensing@north-norfolk.gov.uk
		  Website: www.north-norfolk.gov.uk

Page 45



Page 28 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
		  Information is also available from:

		  Gambling Commission
		  Victoria Square House
		  Victoria Square
		  Birmingham
		  B2 4BP

		  Tel: 0121 230 6666
		  Website: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

Page 46



Page 29 of 29

DRAFT

DRAFT
12. Annex 1 - List of consultees
 
North Norfolk District Council

Gambling Commission

Norfolk Constabulary (Chief Officer of Police and the Police and Crime Commissioner)

Norfolk Fire Service

Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board

Norfolk County Council

HM Revenue and Customs

Norfolk Trading Standards

Public Health, Norfolk County Council

Association of British Bookmakers

Gamblers Anonymous

Gamcare

Responsible Gambling Trust t/a Gambleaware

British Amusement Catering Trade Association (BACTA)

British Beer and Pub Association

Housing Associations;
	 -	 Broadland Housing Association
	 -	 Cotman Housing Association
	 -	 Orbit Housing Association
	 -	 Peddars Way Housing Association
	 -	 Victory Housing Trust
	 -	 Wherry Housing Association

Market Town Surgeries;
	 -	 Cromer Group Practice
	 -	 Staithe Surgery, Stalham
	 -	 Paston Surgery, North Walsham
	 -	 Fakenham Medical Practice
	 -	 Holt Medical Practice

Norfolk Chamber of Commerce and Industry

Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers

Gambling Therapy, Gordon Moody Association, Dudley

Parish Clerks and Town Councils

Holders of Gambling Act 2005 licences/permits and registrations issued by  
North Norfolk District Council

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Version and Timing 

Feature 2021 Version 2025 Draft Version 

Effective Date 31 January 2022 14 January 2025 (Draft) 

Review Cycle Every 3 years Every 3 years 

Latest Revision Date November 2021 January 2025 

Status 2022 Adopted by Council Draft (with watermark) 

 

 Structural Differences 

Section 2021 Version 2025 Draft Version 

Part 
Structure 

Parts A–D, 29 sections + 
annexes 

Same structure, some section titles slightly 
reworded 

Wording Formal and direct 
Slightly expanded with more explanatory notes and 
examples 

 

 Substantive Content Differences 

1. Public Health and Gambling 

• 2021: Public health is mentioned briefly (Section 15), focusing on collaborative 
approaches with Norfolk County Council. 

• 2025: Expands this section with more direct emphasis on gambling-related harm as a 
public health issue, reflecting a stronger alignment with national policy and strategy 
updates. 

2. Local Area Profiling 

• 2021: States no specific risk areas identified but outlines the importance of local 
profiling. 

• 2025: Adds more language around collaboration and public accessibility of this profiling 
data if/when developed. 

3. Language and Guidance Updates 

• The 2025 version includes updated references to: 

o New or updated Gambling Commission links/guidance. 

o Enhanced examples under conditions for Adult Gaming Centres and Family 
Entertainment Centres. 

o Greater focus on door supervisors, machine location, and risk mitigation 
strategies. 

Page 49



 

 Policy Enhancements in 2025 Draft 

• New definitions and examples for what constitutes “vulnerable persons.” 

• Expanded explanation of risk-based inspections and enforcement (aligning with 
updated regulatory expectations). 

• More consistent integration of data protection (GDPR/Data Protection Act 2018) 
language in the sections dealing with information exchange. 

 

Administrative and Formatting Updates 

Element 2021 Version 2025 Draft Version 

Lead 
Officer 

Not explicitly listed Elisa Pendered 

Approval Tracy Howard / Emily Capps Cara Jordan (planned) 

Layout Compact formatting 
Expanded, more readable layout (possibly for 
consultation readability) 

Annexes 
Included (List of Consultees, 
Delegation table, etc.) 

Included (Draft, public consultation 
completed) 

 

The Gambling Statement of Principles 2025 references several key documents and sources as 
background papers. These include: 

1. Gambling Act 2005: 

• The primary legislation governing gambling activities in the UK, which sets out 
the licensing objectives and the framework for regulating gambling. 

2. Gambling Commission Guidance: 

• Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to local authorities, which 
provides detailed instructions on how to implement the provisions of the 
Gambling Act 2005. 

3. HM Government Consultation Principles (2018): 

• Guidelines on how to conduct consultations, ensuring that the process is 
transparent, inclusive, and effective. 

4. Data Protection Act 2018: 

• Legislation governing the handling of personal data, ensuring that the exchange 
of information between the licensing authority and other bodies complies with 
data protection requirements. 

Page 50



5. Social Responsibility Code (January 2018): 

• Part of the Gambling Commission's Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice, 
which requires licensees to assess local risks to the licensing objectives and 
implement measures to mitigate those risks. 

6. Public Health England and Norfolk County Council Public Health Team: 

• Collaboration with public health bodies to address the prevention of problem 
gambling and its associated health harms. 

7. Consultation Feedback: 

• There were no responses suggesting changes to the existing policy from the 
public consultation. Consultation feedback was included when the 2022 policy 
was reviewed. 

8. Previous Gambling Policy Statements: 

• The Council’s first gambling policy was adopted on 1st November 2006 and 
subsequent reviews built on this foundation up to and including the current 
statement. 

These background papers and sources have informed the development of the Gambling 
Statement of Principles 2025, ensuring that it is comprehensive, up-to-date, and aligned with 
best practices and legislative requirements. 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	Pages from Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020 V2 0121
	Guidance on Local Government A_ Local Government Association 41

	6 GAMBLING STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 2025
	Gambling Statement of Principles v3 (1)
	Summary of updates in 2025 Statement of Principles




